STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Florence County  
William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
**Aug 17 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRIEL LESHAWN MACK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000521  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the court err as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court failed to find Appellant was irreparably corrupt, which is a necessary conclusion in order to sentence a juvenile to life without parole?
- II. Did the court err as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court failed to give Appellant's age and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and the failure to appreciate the risks and consequences, the constitutional significance required pursuant to Eighth Amendment jurisprudence?
- III. Misinterpreting the Miller factor requiring consideration of Appellant's possibility of rehabilitation, did the court err in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court ignored the evidence – testimony and reports from expert witnesses – that Appellant could be rehabilitated?
- IV. Misinterpreting the Miller factor requiring consideration of the family and home environment that surrounded Appellant, did the court err in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court faulted Appellant for not overcoming his circumstances to become a good, law-abiding citizen, like Elie Wiesel, Oprah Winfrey, and Tyler Perry, instead of considering his circumstances as militating in favor of a sentence less than life?
- V. Misinterpreting the Miller factor requiring the sentencing court to consider an individual's incompetencies associated with youth, such as the individual's inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors, did the court err in sentencing Appellant to life without parole where the uncontradicted evidence showed (1) Appellant gave an incriminating statement to law enforcement after his request for counsel was ignored by his interrogators and (2) Appellant declined a favorable plea bargain due to his lack of understanding of the evidence against him?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 9, 2004, a Florence County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2004-GS-21-1084). R. 287 ll. 8-9; R. 685. Islam Horn and Gregory Johnson were indicted for murder as well. R. 683. On October 25-26, 2005, the state, represented by Jack Lawson and John Jepertinger, called the case to trial before the Honorable Edward R. Cottingham and a jury. R. 1; R. 287, ll. 5-7. Ultimately, Appellant was found guilty of murder and sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP) for murder. R. 250, ll. 14-20; R. 252, ll. 2-4; R. 685.

On appeal, Appellant was represented by Joseph L. Savitz, III. State v. Mack, Op. No. 2008-UP-486 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 15, 2008). Savitz filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). Id. On August 15, 2008, this Court dismissed Appellant's appeal and granted Savitz's motion to be relieved. Id.

On April 28, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for re-sentencing. R. 675. The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., presided over the re-sentencing hearing on February 19-20, 2019. R. 286. John Jepertinger and Dudley Saleeby represented the state. R. 286. Marshall Weaver and Brie R. Russell represented Appellant. R. 286. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Seals took the matter under advisement. R. 412, ll. 24-25. The parties reconvened on March 20, 2019. R. 414. At that time, Judge Seals announced that he was sentencing Appellant to LWOP yet again. R. 415, ll. 19-21. Appellant objected to the sentence as "cruel and unusual" "in violation of the Eight Amendment [to] the United States Constitution." R. 416, ll. 1-4.

On March 20, 2019, Judge Seals signed a sentencing order in which he sentenced Appellant to LWOP yet again. R. 677 R. 686. On March 27, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for determining whether a sentencing court complied with Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012) and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), has not been articulated by the appellate courts of South Carolina. Appellant respectfully requests this Court establish a standard of review for these matters. Further, Appellant humbly suggests this court review the sentencing court's legal conclusions de novo and review the sentencing court's factual findings pursuant to a heightened abuse of discretion.

“In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” State v. Laney, 367 S.C. 639, 643, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006). The appellate courts of South Carolina “review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” Smalls v. State, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012).

The South Carolina Supreme Court observed: “Miller is clear that it is the failure of a sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution.” Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576-77. In Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, 729-30 (2016), the United States Supreme Court said that “when a state enforces a proscription or penalty barred by the Constitution, the resulting conviction or sentence is, by definition, unlawful.”

In the wake of Miller and Montgomery, the appellate courts of several states have addressed the standard of review applicable to an appellate review of a Miller determination. These courts have noted Miller's instruction that occasions for imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile homicide offender should be “uncommon.” Miller, 576 U.S. at 479.

Like South Carolina, when a legal conclusion presents a mixed question of fact and law, Pennsylvania’s appellate courts “defer to the findings of fact made by the sentencing court as long as they are supported by competent evidence, but give no deference to that court’s legal conclusions.” Commonwealth v. Batts, 163 A.3d 410, 435-36 (Pa. 2017). In Batts, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania reasoned that “in the absence of the sentencing court reaching a conclusion, supported by competent evidence, that the defendant will be forever incorrigible, without any hope for rehabilitation, a life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile is illegal, as it is beyond the court’s power to impose.” Id. at 435. Thus, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court reasoned, an appellate court “must review the sentencing court’s legal conclusion that [a juvenile] is eligible to receive a sentence of life without parole pursuant to a de novo standard and plenary scope of review.” Id.

The Iowa Supreme Court “elaborate[d] on the use of the abuse-of-discretion standard in the juvenile sentencing context,” concluding that it would apply a heightened abuse of discretion standard of review to a juvenile’s sentence after a resentencing hearing. State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 137-38 (Iowa 2017). “[W]hile the review is for abuse of discretion, it is not forgiving of a deficiency in the constitutional right to a reasoned sentencing decision based on a proper hearing.” Id. at 138.

In Davis v. State, 415 P.3d 666, 688 (Wyo. 2018), the Supreme Court of Wyoming determined that its review would be “an abuse of discretion, but [it would] not be lenient.” The Court explained it would “view the sentence as inherently suspect and demand rigor from the sentencing court in its factual findings, its application of the Miller factors, and the ensuing sentence.” Id. All legal conclusions would be reviewed de novo. Id.

The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals discussed situations that constitute an abuse of discretion in United States v. Haack, 403 F.3d 997 (8th Cir. 2005). The Eighth Circuit instructed that a discretionary sentencing ruling may be an abuse of discretion “if a sentencing court fails to consider a relevant factor that should have received significant weight, gives significant weight to an improper or irrelevant factor, or considers only the appropriate factors but nevertheless commits a clear error of judgment by arriving at a sentence that lies outside the limited range of choice dictated by the facts of the case.” Haack, 403 F.3d at 1004.

Appellant respectfully requests this Court establish the standard of review for appeals involving juvenile life without parole sentences. Further, Appellant suggests the following standard of review for juvenile life without parole sentences, which are inherently suspect: de novo review of legal conclusions and heightened abuse of discretion review to factual findings.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 17, 2003, Legrand Gowdy, a traffic officer with the Florence Police Department heard three gunshots between 6:00 and 6:30 p.m. R. 3, ll. 1-17; R. 4, ll. 14-25. When he investigated the source of the gunshots, he found the deceased, Joseph Todd Wilson, lying on the ground. R. 5, ll. 1-4. Gowdy saw what appeared to be a bag of crack cocaine near the deceased. R. 10, ll. 21-25; see also R. 151, ll. 21-23. At the crime scene, the police found no evidence to “indicate a suspect.” R. 167, ll. 1-3. Ultimately, the state’s evidence would boil down to the words of two individuals who were also charged with murder and testified against Appellant in hopes of advantageous plea agreements. R. 84, l. 4 – R. 85, l. 10; R. 110, l. 14 – R. 111, l. 9; R. 128, l. 16 – R. 130, l. 1.

Eventually, the police arrested Appellant, Islam Horn, and Gregory Johnson for offenses related to Wilson’s death. Horn and Johnson testified against Appellant. Horn claimed that he was with Johnson and Appellant on December 17, 2003. R. 49, ll. 17-19. Horn alleged that while they were riding down the road, Appellant saw the deceased walking down the street and asked to stop so that he could buy some drugs from him. R. 52, ll. 2-10. Appellant and Johnson got out of the car and approached the deceased. R. 53, ll. 20-25. Less than a minute later, Horn heard a gunshot. R. 54, ll. 1-3. Unable to see anything from his vantage point, Horn drove his car to a spot with a better view. R. 54, ll. 4-11. Once there, Horn claimed he saw the deceased on the ground with Appellant standing over him. R. 54, ll. 12-16. Horn claimed Johnson was no longer there, but that Appellant shot the deceased three times in the back. R. 54, ll. 12-16. Horn immediately left the area. R. 55, ll. 20-23.

Further, Horn claimed that while he was in the detention center with Appellant, he received an unsigned, undated letter from Appellant confessing to shooting the deceased. R. 5, ll. 23; R.

271, ll. 20-25.<sup>1</sup> Horn gave the letter to his lawyer, who provided it to the prosecution. R. 60, ll. 2-11. In the letter, the writer claimed responsibility for the shooting. R. 62, l. 10 – R. 64, l. 18. Horn was forced to admit on cross-examination that he also sent letters to Appellant, and these letters threatened to kill Appellant if Appellant did not accept responsibility for the killing. R. 87, l. 7 – R. 90, l. 15.

Johnson claimed that when Horn stopped the car, he and Appellant got out. R. 117, ll. 4-7. Johnson alleged Appellant called out to the deceased who turned around and approached Appellant. R. 118, ll. 14-17. According to Johnson, Appellant then shot the deceased in the head. R. 118, ll. 17-19. Johnson ran away, but claimed that he saw Appellant stand over the deceased and shoot him three more times. R. 119, l. 23 – R. 120, l. 5.

During the deliberations, the jury revealed they were “divided.” R. 243, ll. 15-16. Additionally, the jurors wanted to know if they were to consider the conspiracy charge against Appellant, which had been discussed with the jury, but was not called by the state to trial. R. 243, ll. 3-12. Finally, the jury expressed a desire for transcripts of the testimony from Horn and Johnson. R. 243, ll. 12-13. In response to the jury’s question about conspiracy, the judge *sua sponte* proposed instructing the jury on the hand of one is the hand of all. R. 243, ll. 3-12. Defense counsel objected to the proposal, but the judge overruled the objection and instructed the jury regarding accomplice liability. R. 244, ll. 2-10; R. 246, l. 21 – R. 248, l. 13. Shortly after receiving

---

<sup>1</sup> At his PCR hearing, Appellant denied writing the letter. R. 258, ll. 23-25. Although Appellant told trial counsel that he did not write the letter, trial counsel failed to retain a handwriting expert to review the letter and compare it to Appellant’s handwriting. R. 259, ll. 1-13. At trial, it was only Horn’s self-serving testimony that served to authenticate the letter. R. 38, ll. 23-24; R. 58, l. 25 – R. 59, l. 1. During the PCR hearing, trial counsel characterized the letter as “the most damning” evidence against Appellant. R. 272, ll. 10-11. However, trial counsel indicated that he would not normally get a handwriting expert in this circumstance. R. 276, ll. 1-6; R. 281, ll. 7-9. In fact, trial counsel indicated that in his twenty years of practice, he had never hired a handwriting expert. R. 269, 17-19; R. 281, ll. 10-11.

this additional instruction, the jury returned its verdict finding Appellant guilty of murder. R. 250, ll. 14-20. Judge Cottingham sentenced Appellant, who was seventeen years old at the time of the offense, to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 252, ll. 2-4; R. 685.

## **ARGUMENT**

### ***Introduction***

“[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that “Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered.” The Court held the sentencing judge must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” and that this requirement “deserves universal application.” Aiken, 410 S.C. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

The Miller Court repeatedly focused on the notion that the character traits of children are “more transitory and less fixed.” Miller, 567 U.S. at 471. Children by definition lack maturity and responsibility; thus, they are more likely to act with “recklessness, impulsivity, and needless risk-taking.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). Due to the innate characteristics of children at large, there is a “great difficulty ... of distinguishing at this early age between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 479 (internal quotation omitted). In fact, the Court stated, “incurability is inconsistent with youth.” Id. at 473. Emphasizing the potential for reform present in all juveniles, the Court discussed the mitigating qualities of youth and noted “[i]t is a time of immaturity, irresponsibility, ‘impetuosity[,] and recklessness.’” Id. at 476 (quoting Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 368 (1982)).

Children “have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform,” and therefore, “they are less deserving of the most severe punishments.” Id. at 471 (quoting Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S.

48, 68 (2010)). “[T]he distinctive attributes of youth diminish penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.” Id. at 472. As a result, “[a]n offender’s age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment.” Id. at 473 (citing Graham, 560 U.S. at 76). In light of the relevance to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, “imposition of a state’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Id. at 474.

The Court required sentencers “to take into account how children are different and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 480. Thus, it is clear that sentencing authorities *must* consider a juvenile offender’s age and consideration of such *must* be a mitigating factor.

Recognizing that Miller “did not expressly extend its ruling to states such as South Carolina whose sentencing scheme *permits* a life without parole sentence to be imposed on a juvenile offender but does not *mandate* it,” the South Carolina Supreme Court held it “must give effect to the proportionality rationale integral to Miller’s holding – youth has constitutional significance.” Aiken, 410 S.C. at 542-543, 765 S.E.2d at 576. Therefore, youth “must be afforded adequate weight in sentencing.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576. The Court found the Miller decision “clear that it is the failure of a sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576-577. The sentencing court must consider the following factors in crafting a sentence proportional to the offense and the juvenile offender:

- (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence;
- (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender;
- (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him;
- (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender’s

inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender's incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.

Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (internal quotations omitted).

Discussing these factors, the Iowa Supreme Court explained they would “best serve their purpose if sentencing courts remain committed to several key observations.” State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 147 (Iowa).

First, the five factors identify the primary reasons most juvenile offenders should not be sentenced without parole eligibility. A sentence of incarceration without parole eligibility will be an uncommon result. Second, the factors must not normally be used to impose a minimum sentence of incarceration without parole unless expert evidence supports the use of the factors to reach such a result. Third, the factors cannot be applied detached from the evidence from which they were created and must not be applied solely through the lens of the background or culture of the judge charged with the responsibility to apply them. Perceptions applicable to adult behavior cannot normally be used to draw conclusions from juvenile behavior.

Id.

Appellant was a juvenile at the time of the offense and was re-sentenced to LWOP following Aiken, supra. On appeal, Appellant challenges the imposition of the sentence as a violation of the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. These principals, established by the United States Supreme Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court, govern review of his claims.

I. The court erred as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile where the court failed to find Appellant was irreparably corrupt, which is a necessary conclusion in order to sentence a juvenile to life without parole.

### **Relevant facts**

In deciding Appellant was deserving of the harshest sentence possible, the sentencing judge failed to find Appellant was irreparably corrupt. R. 677. Instead, his order noted his concern with

the “cold-blooded nature of the killing,” “the fact that [Appellant] ha[d] shown little to no signs of rehabilitation,” and that Appellant did not show remorse for the crime until the hearing, which the judge determined was a time when he had something to gain. R. 677. Nowhere in his order did the judge determine Appellant was permanently incorrigible arising from irreparable corruption; thus, the judge could not sentence Appellant to LWOP.

### **Discussion**

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