**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

Aug 11 2020

Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-000521

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TERRIEL LESHAWN MACK,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
No. 14244

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

E.L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit
180 North Irby Street
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

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

In an effort to show Mack's immaturity and his failure to appreciate the risks and consequences of his actions, counsel pointed to Mack's statement to law enforcement, which he gave to three officers after invoking his right to counsel. **R. 400-03.**³⁵ Counsel argued that Mack had been unable to properly assist his attorney at trial because his trial attorney was only appointed eighty-one days before the trial and suggested that Mack might have been better able to assist trial counsel if there had been more time, such as providing more information in mitigation of punishment. Counsel likewise noted that DMH did not evaluate his competency to stand trial as an adult and contended that, if he had been evaluated, "it would [have been] much more difficult to assume that he was able to communicate." **R. 403-05.**

Counsel then pointed out that Dr. McKee's expert opinion was that Mack could be rehabilitated and that Dr. Gaskins had explained that many of Mack's disciplinary problems while in SCDC were either necessary to defend himself or to survive prison life because he could not show weakness. Also, Mack had not been convicted of fighting while incarcerated. Additionally, he had not committed a homicide or rape, and there was no evidence of his gang involvement while in prison. However, he had improved himself while incarcerated, by obtaining his GED and helping others get their GEDs. **R. 406-08.**

³⁵ The State did not introduce the statement at trial.

Next, counsel noted that Petitioner had written a letter for Ms. Simmons' book, "Letters To Our Sons, A Collection of Letters By Prisoners & Ex-prisoners To Stop Mass Incarceration of Our Youth," and counsel read the letter into the record. Further, counsel noted that the life expectancy evidence for inmates incarcerated in SCDC as juveniles was 38.2 years and that a thirty-eight year sentence equated to a life sentence. **R. 409-10**. Finally, counsel argued that the original sentencing had no bearing on the appropriate sentence under *Aiken* and his Memorandum had facts of other cases and the sentences imposed in those cases. **R. 410-11**.

The sentencing judge took the matter under advisement. **R. 412-13**. When proceedings resumed on March 20, 2019, the sentencing judge announced that he had signed an order and was sentencing Mack to life imprisonment. **Sent. 3**. Counsel "object[ed] to the sentencing as it being cruel and unusual and in violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution." *See R. 415-16*.

C. The Sentencing Order.

The sentencing judge's March 20, 2019 Sentencing Order expressly states that he considered the factors set forth in *Miller* and *Aiken* and explains in detail his reasons for imposing a life sentence following his considering those factors. **R. 677-81**. The sentencing judge's conclusion was that:

While the Defendant presented some mitigating evidence including his immaturity at the time of the murder, some mental health diagnoses, and growing up in a difficult environment, this Court believes these limited mitigating factors are substantially outweighed by the areas mentioned above pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*. This Court is extremely concerned by the cold-blooded nature of the killing, and the fact that the Defendant has shown little to no signs of rehabilitation. Furthermore, the Defendant ... has shown no remorse for his crime until this hearing, whereby he potentially has something to gain. The Court carefully and deliberately considered all the factors as outlined in *Aiken v. Byars*, and after doing so, based on the above and the entire record of the sentencing hearing, this Court sentences the Defendant to life in the custody of the Department of Corrections.

R. 680.

D. Discussion.

South Carolina employs a constitutionally permissible sentencing scheme in which juvenile homicide offenders are subject to a discretionary sentence ranging from a minimum of thirty years imprisonment to a maximum of life without the possibility of parole. S.C. Code. Ann. § 16-3-20(A); *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578. In *Miller*, the United States Supreme Court held that mandatory life without parole sentences for juvenile homicide offenders violated the Eighth Amendment. 567 U.S. at 465, 470. *Miller* did not categorically bar life sentences for juvenile murderers. Instead, the Court held a sentencing court must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.* at 480. The Court noted the difficulty of distinguishing “the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” *Id.* at 479-80. Yet, the Court did not articulate or require any specific factual findings.

In stating the factors that must be examined before sentencing a juvenile to life, *Miller* explained that a sentencing authority must consider youth a “more than a chronological fact,” but also as a circumstance which carries with it immaturity, irresponsibility, and recklessness. *Id.* at 476. Further, the defendant’s family background, mental and emotional development, and the possibility of rehabilitation must be considered in assessing his culpability. *Id.* The Court held that a juvenile convicted of murder could still be sentenced to life without parole, but only after an individualized hearing in which the various mitigating factors were considered. *Id.* at 479-80. In other words, *Miller* mandated only that a sentencing court follow a certain process before imposing a particular penalty and did not require specific words be used. *Id.* at 483.

Likewise, our Supreme Court explicitly declined any “invitation to set out a specific process for trial court judges to follow when considering whether to sentence a juvenile to life without parole.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545 n.10, 765 S.E.2d at 578 n.10. The Court held that *Miller* applied to a discretionary sentencing scheme such as ours, and that juveniles previously sentenced to life without parole, such as Mack, were entitled to resentencing to allow them “to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight.” *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court determined that the factors in *Miller* were those which must be considered during resentencing, such as the offender’s age and other features of youth, family life, circumstances of the crime, understanding of the legal process, and the possibility of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577-78.

Critically, the *Aiken* majority noted that “[t]he United States Supreme Court did not establish a definite resentencing procedure and we likewise see no reason to do so,” and explained that it trusted trial courts to exercise their discretion wisely to sentence juveniles. *Id.* at 545 n.10, 765 S.E.2d at 578 n.10; *see also Wasman v. United States*, 468 U.S. 559, 563 (1984) (holding a sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed). The Court also explained it was not going “so far” as to hold a juvenile’s individualized sentencing hearing “should mirror the penalty phase of a capital case,” but “the type of mitigating evidence permitted in death penalty sentencing hearings unquestionably has relevance to juvenile life without parole sentencing hearings.”³⁶ *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

³⁶ “[S]tate courts that have addressed the question of how to apply *Miller* in the context of discretionary natural-life sentences have reached differing conclusions.” *People v. Holman*, 58 N.E.3d 632, 641 (Ill. App. Mar. 3, 2016); *see State v. Riley*, 110 A.3d 1205, 1214 n.5 (Conn. 2015)

In 2016, the United States Supreme Court held its rule in *Miller* was retroactive on state collateral review. See *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016). It is notable that the Court, when revisiting its holding in *Miller*, did not constitutionally require judges to make *any specific or formal factual findings* when imposing sentences in juvenile homicide cases. *Id.* at 735 (explaining a sentencing court is not constitutionally required to make any specific findings of fact on the record when sentencing a juvenile offender pursuant to the guidelines of *Miller*). The Court explained that the decision not to require specific findings spoke “to the degree of procedure *Miller* mandated in order to implement its substantive guarantee.” *Id.*

Nothing in *Miller* suggests that a judge use any particular verbiage or recite any phrase prior to imposing a sentence. Therefore, a closing reading of *Miller* requires an examination of certain factors prior to sentencing a juvenile to life without parole. However, neither the United States Supreme Court nor our Supreme Court requires formal fact findings or a specific procedure. Respondent again submits that the sentencing judge properly complied with the Eighth Amendment in sentencing Mack because the record reflects that the sentencing judge fully

(noting “there is no clear consensus”). Some courts, like our own, have found *Miller* requires consideration of factors associated with youth. See e.g., *Riley*, 110 A.3d at 1216; *People v. Gutierrez*, 324 P.3d 245, 268-69 (Cal. 2014) (describing five factors courts must consider before sentencing juvenile defendants to life in prison without parole); *Bear Cloud v. State*, 294 P.3d 36, 47 (Wyo. 2013) (setting forth seven factors courts must consider in sentencing juveniles to life in prison without parole (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476-77)). Yet other courts have found, while *Miller* requires the sentencing authority to consider mitigating circumstances related to youth, *Miller* does not bind the court to consider a predetermined list of particular factors. *Holman*, 58 N.E.3d at 642, *State v. Ali*, 855 N.W.2d 235, 256-57 (Minn. 2014) (explaining sentencing courts must consider “any mitigating circumstances,” including those discussed by the *Miller* Court); *State v. Long*, 8 N.E.3d 890, 895 (Oh. 2014) (finding the factors adopted by the Wyoming Supreme Court in *Bear Cloud*, *supra*, “may prove helpful” to courts sentencing juvenile defendants, but refusing to require sentencing courts to make explicit findings with respect to any enumerated factors); *Conley v. State*, 972 N.E.2d 864, 876 (Ind. 2012) (holding the sentencing court complied with the requirements of *Miller* by taking into account how juveniles are different from adults “and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison”).

considered the mitigating factors of youth that the Eighth Amendment requires and that his factual findings are not clearly erroneous. *See Brown*, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265.

1. The failure to find that Mack is “irreparably corrupt.”

Mack first attacks the sentencing court’s failure to find that Mack is “irreparably corrupt.” As noted, however, neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Supreme Court of South Carolina require any specific factual findings. Rather than emphasizing some hypothetical fact-finding for the jury or trial judge, *Miller’s* holding was limited: “*Miller* requires a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender’s youth and attendant characteristics before determining that [LWOP] is a proportionate sentence.” *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 735 (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 483).

Indeed, although the Court in *Montgomery* stated that “*Miller* did bar life without parole for all but the rarest of juvenile offenders, those whose crimes reflect permanent incorrigibility,” *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 734, it also acknowledged that *the sentencer is not required to find the juvenile defendant is “irreparably corrupt.”* *Id.* at 735 (emphasis added). A number of courts from other jurisdictions have likewise held that the sentencer is not required to make such a finding.³⁷ Further, it is clear that the sentencing judge implicitly found that Mack is

³⁷ *See, e.g., People v. Blackwell*, 3 Cal. App. 5th 166, 194, 207 Cal.Rptr.3d 444 (2016) (“*Miller* does not require irreparable corruption be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt in order to ‘aggravate’ or ‘enhance’ the sentence for [a] juvenile offender convicted of homicide”). *see also Id.* at 192 (“‘[I]rreparable corruption’ is not a factual finding, but merely ‘encapsulates the [absence] of youth-based mitigation’”) (alteration in original); *White v. State*, 837 S.E.2d 838, 844 (Ga. 2020) (“*White* also argues that *Veal* requires that the trial court find beyond a reasonable doubt that he is irreparably corrupt before sentencing him to life without parole. But nothing in *Veal* says that, and nothing in *Miller* or *Montgomery* says that, either. Moreover, language in *Miller* and *Montgomery* is contrary to *White’s* argument that those cases demand that the State prove permanent incorrigibility beyond a reasonable doubt”); *State v. Fletcher*, 149 So.3d 934, 943 (La App. 2014) (“*Miller* does not require proof of an additional element of ‘irretrievable depravity’ or ‘irrevocable corruption’”); *State v. Lovette*, 233 N.C.App. 706, 719, 758 S.E.2d 399, 408 (N.C. Ct.App. 2014) (“The findings of fact must support the trial court’s conclusion that defendant should be sentenced to life imprisonment without parole, and a finding of ‘irreparable corruption’ is not required.”); *Garcia v. State*, 903 N.W.2d 503, 512 (¶ 26) (N.D. 2017) (“*Miller* did not impose a

irreparably corrupt even though there was no express finding that Mack to this effect because he found that in light of the many “violent and serious” offenses that Mack had committed in SCDC, “[Mack’s] ability to be rehabilitated is unlikely. In fact, this Court is concerned for the safety of the public should [Mack] ever be released from the Department of at any age.” See **R. 678-79**. This finding, which is supported by the record, is consistent with the admonition in *Montgomery* that “[t]hose prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences. The opportunity for release will be afforded to those who demonstrate the truth of *Miller*’s central intuition—that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.” *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736. Accordingly, the failure to make an express finding of irreparable corruption did not amount to an error of law. Also, the sentencing judge’s factual findings are supported by the record,³⁸

formal factfinding requirement *Miller* ‘mandates only that a sentencer follow a certain process—considering an offender’s youth and attendant characteristics—before imposing a particular penalty’”); *Brown v. State*, No. W2015-00887-CCA-R3-PC, 2016 WL 1562981, at *7 (Tenn. Crim. App. Apr. 15, 2016) (unpublished op.) (“[*Montgomery*] reiterated that ‘*Miller* did not require trial courts to make a finding of fact regarding a child’s incorrigibility’”), *appeal denied* (Tenn. Aug. 19, 2016), *cert. denied*, 137 S.Ct. 1331 (2017); *Jones v. Commonwealth*, 293 Va. 29, 795 S.E.2d 705, 709 n.3 (Va. 2017) (“*Montgomery* acknowledged that ‘*Miller* did not require trial courts to make a finding of fact regarding a child’s incorrigibility’ and ‘did not impose a formal factfinding requirement’ on this mitigation issue”). Mack’s reliance upon contrary authority is misplaced, since much of it predates the Court’s decision in *Montgomery* and because neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Supreme Court of South Carolina require such an express factual finding.

³⁸ In his brief, Mack relies upon capital case, such as *Thompson v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 815, 834 (1988) and *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104 (1982). However, any argument based upon these cases is not properly before this Court on appeal because they were not presented to the sentencing judge, either in Mack’s Sentencing Memorandum (Def.’s Ex. 20) or in argument at the hearing. See **R. 390-412**. See also *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal”). Moreover, these capital case are irrelevant both because “death is different, *see, e.g., Woodson v. North Carolina*, 428 U.S. 280, 303–04 (1976); *Ford v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S. 399, 411, 106 S.Ct. 2595, 2602, 91 L.Ed.2d 335 (1986) (Marshall, J., plurality opinion) (“In capital proceedings generally, this Court

2. Alleged failure to properly consider Mack’s “age and the hallmark features of youth.

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